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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION
STEPHANIE NICHOLS,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No.: 2:14-cv-2796
JUDGE SMITH
Magistrate Judge Vascura
OHIOHEALTH CORP., et al.,
Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court uptite Motion for Summary Judgmertf Defendants
OhioHealth Corporation, Kay Holland, Kathy Talbott, Nancy Miller, and Chari3strell
(collectively “Defendanty (Doc. 31) Plaintiff opposedDefendants Motion (Doc. 50 and
Defendantseplied in supporf{Doc. 56). This matteris now ripe for review. For the following
reasonsPefendantsMotion for Summary Judgment GRANTED.

I. BACKGROUND

This case concerrBaintiff's attempt to obtain a Senior Radiology Technolqgisition
with OhioHealthCorp. (“Ohio Health™)at the Riverside Breast Health CentéDoc. 2, Compl.
at 116, 12. Although OhioHealth originally offered Plaintiff the job, Plaintiff offer was
rescinded before she ever began working for Ohio Health and this lawsuit followed.

Plaintiff applied br the Senior Radiology Technologist position on July 26, 2012. (Doc.
3, Am. Compl. at 911). Plaintiff had worked in similar positions performing mammograms for
over thirty years before she applied for the position v@imo Health (Doc. 481, Pl's

Application at PAGEID# 72-43). While waiting to hear about her application, Plaintiff
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contacted a former coworker, Dee Goodwiio worked forOhio Healthat the time (Doc. 54
1, Nichols Dep. at 26). Goodwin spoke to her supervisor, Katie, Rbtbut Plaintiff and
Plaintiff forwarded her application directly to Rothd.(at 26-27). Roth informed Plaintiff that
Goodwin had wonderful things to say about Plaintiffd.)( Plaintiff interviewed with Roth
shortly after her email conversationld.(at 28-30). After her interview, Plaintiff had a short
meeting with Liz Tully, anOhio Healthhuman resources representativeld. @t 30-31).
Following her meeting with Tully, Plaintiff had a telephone interview with thed hef
mammography. Id. at 33-34). Shortly after Plaintif6 phone interview, Kathy Talbota
recruitment consultantalled Plaintiff and offered her the jobld(at 34). Talbott informed
Plaintiff that the position was contingent on a background check and a health asses&m
said that she would be mailing Plaintiff informatiolemorializingthe call. (d. at 34-37).
Talbott sent Plaintiff an offer letter dated August 21, 2012, agdinating that the job offer was
contingent on the completion of a background checkaahealth assessment. (Doc-48 ffer
Letter). The Offer Letter scheduled Plaintiff f@hio Healthorientation on August 27, 2012.
(1d.).

Prior to completing the Health Assessment, Plaintiff filled out a few differentndeits
about her health history. Under the section askidg you have any limitations that would keep
you from performing the duties of your joh?Plaintiff answered,’Cannot stoop or work
standing on my kneés.(Doc. 543, Health History).Plaintiff's noted limitations were ¢hresult
of a meniscus tear that had been surgically repaired a year prior to the Hea#isrent. (Doc.
54-1, Nichols Dep. at 50). Plaintiff did not mark either tho” or “Yes, if yes explaih check
boxes next to the question. (Doc-34Health History). Plaintiff stated that she did not check

either box because she did not believe the knee issues kept her from performing her gob. (Do



54-1, Nichols Dep. at 5%6). Plaintiff noted that she has poor balance and that if she needs to
go down to the floor that she usudllyang[s] on to somethirig.(ld.). The next question on the

form asked'Are there any accommodations that you need our company to make to perform this
job?" (Doc. 54-3, Helih History). Plaintiff checked th&No” box. (Id.).

Plaintiff' s in-personhealth assessment took place at the Riverside Hospital campus with
nurse Charissa Cattrell. (Doc.-%4 Nichols Dep. at 442). Cattrell and Plaintiff discussed
Plaintiff s nded kneelimitations. (Id. at 50). Cattrell told Plaintiff that she did not like the way
Plaintiff had worded her limitations and rewrote it to say that Plaintiffdcoat kneel because of
knee pain and that Plaintiff could not stoop without holding onto somethicigat 66; Doc. 54
3, Health History). Plaintiff admits that her description of her limitations“kiasl of vagué so
she tried to explain to Cattrelthe real issué. (Doc. 541, Nichols Dep. at 57).Plaintiff
believed “Stooping’mears kind of a squat to the floor.Standing on my kneésvas when’im
in an upright position on my kneesAnd ‘kneeling’to me means you haveyou're squatted
with one foot on the ground and one knee on the grdufid. at 60). Plaintiff indicated that
stooping did not cause her knee pain at that time but that standing on her knees and kneeling did
cause knee pain(ld. at 66-61). Plaintiff told Cattrell that she could perform all of her duties but
that“it’s alittle bit more painful} because of the knee surgeryd.). Cattrell informed Plaintiff
that she would have &end Plaintiffs information to another departmentd.{.

After the Health Assessment, Cattrell emailed Nancy Milkm, accommodations
specialist,staing “New hire Sr Rad tech at RMH mammo/Nao 0827/2012/indicated on her
health hx form that she cannot stoop without holding onto something or kneel because of
bilateral knee pain.States she had surgery on her Rt knee 1 year ago teard (Doc. 479,

Cattrell 8/22/12 Email to Miller). Plaintiff next spoke with Miller a day or two aftemifé' s



Health Assessment. (Doc. -84 Nichols Dep. at 73). Miller began discussing Plainti#f
limitations and Plaintiff responded can do these things. (Id. at 74). At that point, Miller
allegedly called Plaintiff a liar for writing the things down in the Health Histong refused to

let Plaintiff explain. Id.). Plaintiff did not request any accommodations during the call but did
not get a chance to pbain her vague wording.Id. at 74-77). Plaintiff stated that she did not

ask for accommodations during that phone call because she does not need accommodations and
that the phone call ended after about ten minutiels). (Miller told Plaintiff thatshe would have

to report the issue to Kay Holland.ld{. Miller had a diferent memory of the phone call,
stating that Plaintiff“indicated that the restrictions could be accommodated by potentially
leaving the door to the mammography suite open or having another person to be available to
assist het. (Doc. 462, Miller Dep. at 37). Miller suggested that‘isome places it might be
possible to install grab bars, which would have been of assistance potentialygettmng up

from a kneeling positioif needed. (Id. at 43). Plaintiff responded that she would check into
that. (d.). Miller stated that she did not accuse Plaintiff of lying or backpedalilty.at(45-

46). Miller told Plaintiff that she would discuss the requested accommodatitn® haintiff s

new manager.Id.).

Miller next spoke to Kay Holland, the manager of Radiology to discuss the
accommodations Plaintiff requestedld. (at 56). Holland stated that to leave the door open
would violate radiology and HIPAA protocols andthihe staffing system could not allow two
people in an exam room at one timdd. @t 57). Holland also said that grab bars were not
possible because of the size and orientation of the roloimat £68).

Plaintiff and Miller spoke the next day whenller told Plaintiff to get documents from

her doctor stating that she had no limitations and to fax that information to Milkkelsnd of



the day. (Doc. 54, Nichols Dep. at 7#80. Although Plaintiff told Miller that it was unlikely
that she could get the requested records by the close of busineBadayaMiller insisted" [i] f
you do not get me these documents by the end of the day, you cannot attend orientation on
Monday:” (Id. at 78). Plaintiff stated that she and Miller did not discussammodations
“because we werdnat that point in this process.was just trying to give her the documents to
say that | had no limitations, of which | was quite aware |I'didave limitations. (Id. at 79).
Plaintiff offered to come to Ohio Heal#nd demonstrate that she could perform the job but
Miller informed her that it was too late in the day to do thAgain, Miller has a different
memory of the call, stating that Plaintiff offered a dodaelease to full duty upon hearing that
her suggested accommodations could not be met. (De2, Mhller Dep. at 6364). Miller
insists that the door was not closed on further possible accommodatidns. The call ended
with Miller waiting on a fax from Plaintifé doctor. (Doc. 54-1, Nichols Dep. at 80).

After the second conversation between Miller and Plaintiff, Plaintiff ceedal€imberly
Cox to see if Cox could talk to Holland about Plaintiff and put in a good word. (Dek, 54
Nichols Dep. at 8687). Cox was a friend of Plaintiff's in the imaging department at Ohio
Health. (d). Miller called Plaintiff and said[h] ow dare you call and try to get someone within
the system to vouch for you.’'m your representative and you are to let me do that for
you. . .From now on, if you neee if you need questions or you need communication done
within the system, you call nfe(ld. at 88).

On the Monday when Plaintiff was originally scheduled to have orientation, Rlainti
called Talbott to see if she could attend orientation on Tuesday but Talbott infBtenetlff
that orientationwas a two day process and that Plaintiff would have to wait for the next

orientation. (Doc. 54, Nichols Dep. at 995). Plaintiff's doctor, Dr. Barkerfaxed a note to



Ohio Health stating:“Patient was lasteen 9/7/11. The patient was released without restrictions
at that appointmerit. (Doc. 544, Barker Fax at 2). BarKerfax also included a September 8,
2011 note, statg Plaintiff was cleared fdiReturn to Work 9/12/11 without restrictiohs(ld. at

3). Dr. Barker also provided a note from PlainsifiSeptember 7, 2011 appointmevttich
stated,”[Plaintiff] has not required physical therapy at this point in time but certahmywill

give us a phone call if she stalls with progress and perceives the need for somiégioeing,
which would be nicely accomplished by therapy if necessaig. at 4). Plaintiff never sought
physical therapy for her knee and did not see Dr. Barker or any other care proviuar Koee
between her release to waskdBarkers fax on August 28, 2012. (Doc.-84 Nichols Dep. at
82-83).

On Tuesday, August 28, Plaintiff emailed Roth to inform her that all of the negcessa
medical documentation was sent @hio Healthand that she would be ready for the next
orienation. (Doc. 4810, PI. 8/28/12 Enail to Roth). On September 4, 2012, Talbott informed
Plaintiff that the offer was rescinded and that the position would not be filledc. @*1,
Nichols Dep. at 97). Plaintiff asked if that was the case even though she had subhaftddeal
required medical documents and Talbott confirmed that the offer was rescifaigd. (

Plainiff fled an EEOC charge in November of 2012 and received a-togbtie letter in
October, 2014. (Doc. 482, EEOC Charge; Doc-B Rightto-Sue Letter). Plaintiff filed suit
in this case on December 31, 201Rlaintiff brings the following claim&gainst Defendarnts
(1) Ohio Healthrescinded its offer tdPlaintiff “because of her disability and/or perceived
disability’ in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Acas Amended“ADAAA ") and
Ohio RewsedCode 84112.02(A); (2)Ohio Healthconducted an unlawful medical examination

and/or unlawfully used the results Bfaintiffs medical examination. .” in violation of 42



U.S.C. 812112(d) andDhio RevisedCode 84112.02(A);(3) Ohio Healthfailed to provide an
accommodation for Plaintiff in violation of 42 U.S.C.18112(b)(5) and Ohio Rev. Code
8§4112.02(A); and (4) Holland, Talbott, Miller and Cattr# “aided and abetted in
discriminatiori againstPlaintiff in violation of Ohio Reised Code 8§ 4112.02(J).(Doc. 50,
Mem. Opp. at 1-25ee alsdoc. 3, Am. Compl. at 11 38-68).

[I.  STANDARD OF REVIEW

Defendantanoved for summary judgment pursuant to Ruleob6he Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. Summarjudgment is appropriatéif the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment asr afmatte
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The Cdsrpurpose in considering a summary judgment motion is
not “to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the rditérto “determine whether
there is a genuine issue for trialAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 249 (1986). A
genuine isue for trial exists if the Court finds a jury could return a verdict, basédusficient
evidencé€, in favor of the nonmoving party; evidence that“imerely colorablé or “not
significantly probative,however, is not enough to defeat summary judgmehtat 249-50.

The party seeking summary judgment shoulders the initial burden of presentouythe
with law and argument in support of its motion as well as identifying the relpeatibns of
“the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions ondtleertegth the
affidavits, if any, which it believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of matefial fact.
Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56). If this initial
burden is satisfied, the burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to set forth sfastgic
showing that there is a genuine issue for trifleeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)see alsoCox V.

Kentucky Dejt of Transp. 53 F.3d 146, 150 (6th Cir. 1995) (after burden shifts, nonmovant



must*”produce evidence that results in a conflict of material fact to be resolveguby)a In
considering the factual allegations and evidence presented in a motion for sugpmhgangnt,
the Court mustafford all reasonable inferenceand construe the evidence in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving partylt.
[11. DISCUSSION

Defendantsnoved for summary judgment @t of Plaintiff's claimsproviding legal and
factual arguments against each. Plaintiff responded to eddokfehdantsarguments and the
Court will address each in turn. Before turning to the merits of each claimptheGRANTS
summary judgment in favor of Defendant Talbott as Plaintiff made no argumentabibtyl
against Talbott.
A. Disability Discrimination

Plaintiff's first cause of action clasrOhio Healthrescinded her offer because she was
disabled and/or becau§kio Healthbelieved her to be disabled in violation of the A& and
Ohio Revised Code £112.02(A). Ohio Healthargues that Plaintiff does not suffer from a
disability, thatOhio Healthdid not perceive her as disabled and that even if Plaintiff succeeds in
overcoming the earlier defenses, tizdtio Healths decision maker had no knowledge of the
alleged disability

As an initial matter; because Ohio case law tends to suggest that it entails the same legal
analysis as that under the ADA, [the Courtjll analyze plaintiffs state and federal
discrimination claims under Ohio Revised Cod#182 and the ADA, respectively, solely under

the ADA.” Brenneman v. MedCentral Health Sy366 F.3d 412, 418 (6th Cir. 200&)iting

1 Although Plaintiff attempted to dismiss the claims against Talbott, undier & of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, once responsive pleadinga¢omplaint have been served, a plaintiff may not dismiss a party wighou
stipulation of dismissal ghed by all parties who have appeared or by court order at a plaintiff's teques



Plant v. Morton Int'l, Inc, 212 F.3d 929, 9389 (6th Cir. 2000)) see alsoRosebrough v.
Buckeye Valley High S¢l690 F.3d 427, 431 (6th Cir. 2012) (citi@gy of Columbus Civ. Serv.
Commn v. McGlong 82 Ohio St.3d 569, 573, 697 N.E.2d 204 (1998)).

The prima facie case for discrimination claim under the ADAAAvhere the Plaintiff
presents no evidence of diratiscrimination is: (1) the plaintiff is disabled; (2) the plaintiff is
otherwise qualified for the position, with or without reasonable accommodation; (@atheff
“suffered an adverse employment decisidd) “the employer knew or had reason to knofw
the plaintiff s disability; and (5)“the position remained open while the employer sought other
applicants or the disabled individual was replaced/hitfield v. Tennessgé39 F.3d 253, 259
(6th Cir. 2011) (quotingviacy v. Hopkins Cty. Sch. Bd. Btluc, 484 F.3d 357, 365 (6th Cir.
2007)).

Ohio Healthargues that Plaintiff cannot meet the prima facie for disability discrimination
because she wastractually disabledUnder the ADAAA:

The term “disability” means, with respect to an individual—

(A) a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major
life activities of such individual;

(B) a record of such an impairment; or
(C) being regarded as having such an impairment (as described in paragraph (3)).

42 U.S.C. § 12102(1).

Plaintiff argues that she has provided sufficient evidence to show that she heeets t
definition of disability because she is both substantially limited in a major life gchyither
impairments and that she was regarded as having such an impairment. The [Caddress

each below.



1 Plaintiff was not Substantially Limited in aMajor Life Activity

Defendants arguthat Plaintiff is not disabled under 42 U.S.C138102(1§A) for three
reasons: (1) she testified that she was not disabled; (2) heriphyseased her to full duty
prior to her offer being rescinded; and (3) Plaintiff has not identified howoanhe alleged
conditions actually substantially limit[] her from one or more major life activities(Doc. 56,
Reply at 3 (citations omitted))

The Court first addresses Plaints#ffdeposition testimony in which she twice stated that
she did not believe was not disabledse¢Doc. 541, Nichols Dep. at 103, 114 In the first
instance, Plaintifs answer was in response to a question about why she offered t@®bymto
Healthand show her abilitieshe stated:

To go back over, to drive downa up to Columbus, to go back over to Employee

Health, because | assumed that would be the place that you would show a nurse or

somebody my ability.. I'm not disabled. .l have pain sometimes on my

knees; and that | can do all of the things that I listed that | cduddnon a- on

the job, that | can indeed do them but just need, you know, something to hang on
to just to get back up.

(Id. at 103). In a second instance, Plaintiff had the following exchangeQtiib Healths
counsel over objection from Plaint$fcounsel that it called for a legal conclusion:
Q: | understand ydue said that you believe OhioHealth has regarded you as
disabled for a number of conditions. Do you, yourself, believe you have a
disability?
A. No.
(Id. at 114). Plaintiff also stated that at the time of her phone calls with Miller, smedichve
limitations imposed by a physicianld(at 79).
The Court agreewith Plaintiff that Plaintiffs deposition testimony does not conclusively

establish that Plaintiff is not disabled. However, that the testimony is ndusiwecdoes not

mean that Plaintif6 testimony is irrelevantSeeHaley v. Cmty. Mercy Health P@ers No.

10



3:11-CV-232, 2013 WL 322493, at *11 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 28, 2qR3¢e, J.)(holding that the
plaintiff's statement that she was not disdbleas “not particularly probative of the
determination of whether she is disabled under the ADA, whicleigah definition quite distinct
from the colloquial meaning adlisabled’” ); Young v. Dayton Power & Light CGdNo. 1:11CV-
119, 2012 WL 1680100, at *7 (S.D. Ohio May 14, 2012) (Black, “Baged on Young
admission that he is not disabled was never disabled, and based onsYfailoge to evidence
his disability, the Court concludes that Young is not disable@ihompson v. Chase Bankcard
Servs., InG.737 F. Supp. 2d 860, 881 (S.D. Ohio 2010) (Holschuh, J.) (finding a plaintiff not
disabled where, among other things, the plaintiff explained #hat has never considered herself
to be handicapped and that she has not restricted her job search because of tir."gonbh
fact, even the case cited by Plaintiff later found that eékienghplaintiff’s testimony that she
was not disabled was not dispositive, the plaintiff still failed to show “tsta¢ was actually
disabled under the ADA. Wiseman v. Convention Ctr. Autbf. the Metro. Go\t of Nashville
and Davidson CtyNo. 3:14 C 01911, 2016 WL 54922, at *11-12 (M.D. TN Jan. 5, 2016).
Defendants next two contentiongl) that Plaintiffs physician released her to full duty
prior to the offer being rescindednd(2) that Plaintiff has not identified how any of the alleged
conditions actually“substantially limit[] her from one or more major life activitieare
essentiallytwo attacks at the same issue and will be addressed as a comprehensive review of
whether Plaintiffs alleged conditions meet the legal definition for a disabilRiaintiff argues
she is disabled under thfect because she suffers from numerous conditions which have been
deemed to beisabilities by other courts or by the federal regulations interpreting the ADAA

Further, Plaintiff claims‘that she experienced pain where dtneeled and usédomething to

11



han[g] on to just to get back tp. (Doc. 50, Mem. Opp. at 14 (quoting D&el-1, Nichols Dep.
at 103)).

Plaintiff cautions the Court that the regulations implementing the ADAAArdeaded
to be read broadly in favorof expansive coveradeand the ternt’ [sJubstantially limit$ is not
meant to be a demanding standard20 C.F.R. 1630.2(j)(1)(i). “An impairment need not
prevent, or significantly or severely restrict, the individual from performingapor life activty
in order to be considered substantially limiting. Nonetheless, not every impainmié
constitute a disability within the meaning of this sectiohd. at §1630.2(j)(1)(i)). Last, the
regulations note thdt[a]n impairment is a disability within the meaning of this section if it
substantially limits the ability of an individual to perform a major life activity aspared to
most people in the general populationd. Regarding major life activities, the regulations state,
“the term‘major shal not be interpreted strictly to create a demanding standard for disability.
20 C.F.R. 1630.2(i). Included in a list of major life activities are the following relevant
activities: walking, standing, sitting, reaching, lifting, bending, and workindd. at
81630(i)(1)(i). However,“[a]s other district courts have noted, the ADAAA left untouctied
plaintiff’s burden of proof; he still has to prove he has a disabilifyaylor v. Specialty Rest
Corp, No. 2:12CV-44, 2014 WL 4922942, at *5 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 30, 2014) (Sargus, J.)
(internal citations and quotations omitted).

The Court agrees with Plaintiff thBir. Barker’'sreturn to work without restrictions is not
dispositive of whether or not she has a disability, but it is a significant blow tdaimartbat the
knee injury substantially limited a major life activity. alitiff' s memorandum in opposition
argues that[b]Jecause Ms. Nichols had degenerative arthritis in her knee, she would continue to

experience pain despite the surgery to repair the meniscus tear. Even if Mds Mid not have

12



degenerative arthritist would not be uncommon or unusual for her, or any other individual, to
experience limitations after being released by her physiciéDdoc. 50, Mem. Opp. at 14). But
neither of these points provides any evidence that Plaintiff actuallyredffe substaial
limitation at the time of Ohio Health decision to rescind her offerThat Plaintiff “would
continue to experience pain” and that it would not be uncommon to have limitations does not
mean that she actually had limitations. Plairgifhemorandunm opposition states that Plaintiff
experienced trouble sleeping, pain most all day, and that walking or using starstvpassible.
However, each of these symptoms predated Plamtgtirgery to repair her knend Ohio
Health'’s decision to rescind heffer.

Plaintiff next points to numerous medical conditions that she alleges qualify as
disabilities under the ADAA such as her asthma, high blood pressure, anxiety,dsgwession,
sleep apnea, acid reflux disease, high cholesterol, high body mass index, aresalkitiough
other courts or the regulations do mention some of Plamtitflictions as potentially causing
disabilities, “[tlhe determination of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life
activity requires an individualed assessmeht. 29 C.F.R. 8.630.2(j)(1)(iv). Plaintiff's
Memorandum irDpposition does not explain how any of the named medical conditions actually
affect her lifeas required by the regulationsFurther, although Plaintiff testified that she
sufferedfrom depression and anxiety, the regulations ideritifiajor depressive disordeas a
disability, not just any depressive disorder. 29 C.F.B63D.2(j)(3)(iii). Accordingly, Plaintiff
has not presented any evidence that her other noted medicaliamtiad any effect on her
major life activities.

Plaintiff's postsurgery limitations identified in the Memorandum in Opposition are that

she could not stoop or work standing on her knees because of pain. However, in her deposition,

13



Plaintiff stated that' [s]tooping’ means kind of a squat to the floor,” and timmediately stated
that squatting to the floor did not cause her pain at the @me Healthrescinded her offer
(Doc. 541, Pl's Dep. at 60).Plaintiff's description of standing on her kneeSiisan upright
position on my knegsand that‘l just have poor balance. .if | go down to the floor, | usually
hang on to somethirig.(Id. at 56, 60. Although Plaintiffs subjective view of her disability is
not controlling, her admission that stooping did not cause her pain is highly prejudicial to he
claim that her knee injury substantially interfered with her ability to stdéyrther, the Court
does not find working while standing on your knees to be a major life actinityer deposition
testimony, Plaintiff also stated that she offered taag@hio Healthto show*“l can do all of the
things that | listed that | couldindo on a- on the job, that | can indeed do them but just need,
you know, something to hang on to just to get back ypd. at 103). Further, that her doctor
released her ithout restrictions and that she never sought medical help for her knee between the
surgery and the events in this lawsuit is evidence that her knee injurytdgidbstantially limit a
major life activity. SeeShoemaker v. ConAgra Foods, In219 F. Supp. 3d 719, 733 (E.D.
Tenn. 2016) (finding plaintiff not substantially limited where she performed the job and had no
working or lifting restrictions).Finally, Plaintiff makes no argument regarding how her alleged
limitations compare to the general population as required by 29 C.FIB3082(j)(1)(ii).
Accordingly, the Court finds th&laintiff has presentedsufficient evidence for a jury to decide
that Plaintiff was disabled at the time of the Health Assessamehthe rescission of the offer.

2. Plaintiff was not Regarded as Disabled

Regardless of the existence of a physical disabiftgintiff also argueOhio Health
regarded her as disabled when it made the decision to rescind her offetiff Rlguoes that

Ohio Healths referral of Plaintf to Miller, a workplace accommodation specialist, made clear

14



that Ohio Healthperceived Plaintiff as disabledOhio Healthargues that Plaintiff was not
regarded as disabled beca@io Healthreceived her return to work without restrictions and
that referral to an accommodation specialist alone is insufficient to carry Plaitifrden of
proof.

Under the ADAAA, a plaintiff will be regarded adisabled‘if the individual establishes
that he or she has been subjected to an action prohibited uad&ctthecause of an actual or
perceived physical or mental impairment, whether or not the impairment limits oc&veer to
limit a major life activity! 42 U.S.C. 812102(3)(A). The regulations expound on this
definition: “Being regarded a®&aving [a disability]...means that the individual has been
subjected to an action prohibited by the ADA as amended because of an actuakiwegerc
impairment that is not bothransitory and mino¥. 29 C.F.R. 1630.2(g)(1)(ii)).The “regarded
as test thus has both factual components and a causation component. Factually, a plaintiff mus
show that employer actually perceived that the plaintiff had a physical dalnmapairment and
that the employer subjected the plaintiff to a prohibited actiSecond, a plaintiff must show
that the perceived impairment was the-fautcause of the prohibited actioBanaszak v. Ten
Sixteen Recovery Netwoio. 1212433, 2013 WL 2623882, at *5 (E.D. Mich. June 11, 2013).
The regulations confusingly state:

Establishing that an individual isegarded as having such an impairmeltes

not, by itself, establish liability. Liability is established under title | of the ADA

only when an individual proves that a covered entity discriminated on the basis of
disability within the meaning of section 102 of the ADA.

29 C.F.R. 81630.2(I)(3). This is confusing because in order to establish that an individual is
“regarded as having ampairment; the statute already requires that the person has been
subjected to an #on prohibited under thADAAA . 1t is difficult to imaginemanysituatiors in

which a covered entity believed a person had an impairment and subjected the person to a

15



prohibited actiorunder theADAAA , but did not discriminate against the person on tsshof
disability under theADAAA. One possible example is an improper medical examination
becausé’ plaintiffs need not prove that they are qualified individuals with a disahilibrder to
bring claims challenging the scope of medical examinatiodsruihe ADA.” Taylor v. Health

675 F. Appx 676, 678 (9th Cir. 2017) (quotingredenburg v. Contra Costa Cty. Déepof
Health 172 F.3d 1176, 1182 (9th Cir. 1999)).

The Court finds that Plaintiff hasot presented sufficient evidence to survive summary
judgment at this stage for“@aegarded dsclaim. Plaintiff provides evidence that Ohio Health
was aware of her past knee injury from her health assessment, that Cattréddakdgrshealth
assessmerto say that she could not kneel, that Cattrell referred her to an accommodations
specialist to see if Plaintiff needed an accommodation, that PlaantffMiller had multiple
conversationsregarding her injuries, and that Miller testified that Plaintiff asked
accommodations. Miller also testified that she told Holland of Plamtdfleged suggested
accommodations. (Doc. 46-2, Miller Dep. at 56-58).

Although this evidence certainly suggests tl@hio Health knew of a possible
impairment, the Court ages with Defendant that receipt of a dodoreport showing no
restrictions has a preclusive effect on a regaatedlaim. Se&leason v. Food City 65MNo.
3:13CV-712, 2015 WL 1815686, at *6 (E.D. Tenn. Apr. 22, 2019h¢ fact that Gleason had
beencleared to work without restriction by Dr. Brown precludes any finding that Fogd Cit
‘regarded Gleason as disablé}l. see alsalennings v. Monroe CtyNo. 13CV-13560, 2014
WL 6675277, at *11 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 25, 2014ff'd sub nomJennings v. Cty. of Monrpé30
F. Appx 547 (6th Cir. 2015) (finding no jury could find that defendeegardedplaintiff as

claim disabled where doctors had cleared the plaintiff to return with no restrictions and the

16



plaintiff had repeatedly asserted he could perform his jalter informing Ohio Healththat she
had restrictions, Plaintiff informed Cattrell, can do all of these thingd;s just with the recent
surgery to my knee, #’a little bit more painftiland then asked Miller iEhecould come to Ohio
Healthto “demonstrate for somebody in authority that | could do all of those thir{Bc. 54

1, Nichols Dep. at 57, 102). Policy considerations also suggest that fiGdiiy Health
regarded Plaintiff as disabled becau3bio Healthreferred Plaintiff to Miller would make
employers less likely to engage with an employee or potential employee rggpadisible
restrictions. See Price v. Mount Sinai Hospl58 F. Appx 49, 52 (2d Cir. 2012) (quoting
Kramer v. HickeyFreeman, Ing. 142 F.Supp.2d 555, 560 (SNDY.2001)) (‘Moreover, as
courts have convincingly observed, accepting [plainsiffirgument here wdi ‘discourage
employers from taking. .preliminary or temporary steps .for fear that showing concern for
an employess alleged medical problenesuld draw them into court facing an ADA claim based
on a perceived disability). The Court finds that Plaintiff repeated assertions that she could
do the things she originally said she could not do@hi Healths receipt of her docts note
retuming herto work with no restrictions foreclosé¥aintiff's “regarded dsclaim. Plaintiff
cannot satisfy the first prong of her disability discrimination cland therefore summary
judgment as to Plaintiff's disability discrimination claims under Ohind federal law is
GRANTED.

B. Failureto Accommodate and Aiding and Abetting

Plaintiff's claimsfor failure to accommodate anidimg and abetting are dependent on
the Court’'s findings regarding her disability. As Plaintiff notes regardingfdiere to
acommodateclaim, “[i]f . . .this Court determines that Ms. Nichols is not disabled, then she is
not entitled to an acocomodation under a ‘perceived aksability claim.” (Doc. 50, Mem. Opp.

at 25 (quotingWells v. Cincinnati Children’s Hos. Med. GtB60 F. Supp. 2d 469, 483 (S.D.
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Ohio 2012) (Beckwith, J.))). The Court agrees that Plaintiff cannot support a falure t
accommodate claim because she is not disalohel@ér the ADAAA. Summary judgment as to
Plaintiff's failure to accommodate claim@&RANTED.

Similarly, Plaintiff's aiding and abetting claims under Ohio Re&t Code 84112.02(J)
depend on dinding that Plaintiff was subject to an act that was an unlawful discriminatory
practice. Plaintiff explained that the claims against the individuédéants were for aiding and
abetting discrimination. She alleged that Cattrell “facilitated discrimination againstittsls
by changing the limitations that Ms. Nichols identified on her Health History fatmt’Miller
“suggested completely unreasdnhe accommodations” and that Holland made the final decision
to rescind the offer. (Doc. 50, Mem. Opp. at 386). Because the Court has found that no
unlawful discriminatory practice occurred, there is no liability under Ohigised Code
§4112.02(J) for Cattrell, Miller, or Holland. Summary judgment as to the aahdgabetting
claims isGRANTED.

C. Illegal Health Assessment

The last claim the Court must address is Plaintiff's contention that the healtbnasses
itself was unlawfuunder42 U.S.C. 812112(d) and Ohio RésedCode §4112.02(A) Under 42
U.S.C. 812112(d)(2), an employer cannot conduct a medical examinations before
preemployment to determine if a person has a disability or the extent of théitgis&tmwever,
unde 42 U.S.C. 812112(d)(3), an employemfay require a medical examination after an offer
of employment has been made to a job applicant and prior to the commencement of the
empbyment duties of such applicant.If the employer makes the offer conditiongion the
results of the medical examination, three requirements are necessatyefitering employees

are subject to the examination; (2) the information is treated as a confidentiahintedard,;
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and (3) that the information obtained is not usedisariminate on the basis of disabilitid. at
§ 12112(d)(3)B).

At issue in this case is whether tHealth Assessmentas performed preemployment or
between an offer of employment and the commencement of employment duties. Dedésalant
argues thiathis claim was not brought in the Complaint and thus, should nobh&dered.
There is no dispute the health assessment was a medical examination uAd¥@kAlAe or that
Ohio Healthsatisfied theADAAA ’s requirementsor a postoffer medical examinatin’?

The Court agrees with Defendarnitsat Plaintiff failed to plead a claim for an improper
medical examination under 42 U.S.C13112(d)(2). The Amended Complaint specifically
states that Ohio Healthrequired Plaintiff to undergo a mediaakamination after offeringper
the Senior Radiology Technologist position.” (Doc. 3, Am. Compl. 44)Y The Amended
Complaint further states that Ohio Heattten used the medical examination to discriminate
against her on the basis of her allegedhligis. (Id. at 1144-46). There is no mention of the
health assessment being improper because it was preemployment and theaboiyisito 42
U.S.C. 812112(d)(3)(C), the section discussing paoffer medical examinationsHad Plaintiff
made thisclaim in the Amended Complaint then perhaps Defendant could have prepared a
defense “thait could not reasonably have completed the background checks and so notified the
appellants before initiating the medical examination protekssonel v. Am. Airlies, Inc, 400
F.3d 702, 710 (9th Cir. 2005), opinion amended on denial of reh’'g, N&5830, 2005 WL
976985 (9th Cir. Apr. 28, 2005). Summary judgment as to Plaintiff's claim under 42 U.S.C.

§ 1211(d)(3) iGRANTED.

2 Plaintiff argues the third criteriathat the information obtained is not used to discriminate on the basis of
disability—was not met herdut the Court has already deténed ttat no discrimination under thecAoccurred.
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V. CONCLUSION
Based on the foregoind)efendants Motion for Summary Judgment GRANTED.
The Clerk shalREMOVE Document 3%rom the Courts pending motions listThe Clerk shall
enter final judgment in favor of Defendants &REM OVE this case from the Court’s pending
cases list.
IT 1SSO ORDERED.
/sl George C. Smith

GEORGE C. SMITH, JUDGE
UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
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